

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Herrmann, Roland; Möser, Anke

## **Working Paper**

Price variability or rigidity in the food-retailing sector? Theoretical analysis and evidence from German scanner data

Discussion Paper, No. 11

## **Provided in Cooperation with:**

Justus Liebig University Giessen, Center for international Development and Environmental Research (ZEU)

Suggested Citation: Herrmann, Roland; Möser, Anke (2003): Price variability or rigidity in the food-retailing sector? Theoretical analysis and evidence from German scanner data, Discussion Paper, No. 11, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Zentrum für Internationale Entwicklungs- und Umweltforschung (ZEU), Giessen

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/50500

## Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



Price variability or rigidity in the food-retailing sector? Theoretical analysis and evidence from german scanner data\*

by

Roland Herrmann\*\* and Anke Möser\*\*

No. 11, Giessen, March 2003

- \* This paper will be presented as Contributed Paper at the 25th International Conference of the International Association of Agricultural Economists, Durban, South Africa, 16-22 August 2003. The research benefitted from a stay of the first author at the Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics, university of California, Davis, in April and May 2002 which was partly supported by the Center for International Environmental and Development Research (ZEU). Financial support provided by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft in the project "Intertemporal price formation in the grocery-retailing sector: Theory and empirical tests" (He/1419/8-1) is also gratefully acknowledged. This project made it possible to use the scanner data set on which the empirical analysis is based. Thanks are also due to seminar participants at the Institute of Agricultural Economics, ETH Zürich, for very helpful comments on an earlier draft and to Ulrike Faust for her able research assistance.
- \*\* Prof. Dr. Roland Herrmann and Dr. Anke Möser, Institute of Agricultural Policy and Market Research, University of Giessen, Senckenbergstr. 3, D-35390 Giessen, Germany. Roland.Herrmann@agrar.uni-giessen.de

  Anke.Moeser@agrar.uni-giessen.de

## **INHALTSVERZEICHNIS:**

Inha	altsverzeichnis:	1
1	Introduction	3
2	Theoretical Analysis	4
2.1	Price Theory of the Multiproduct Firm – Theoretical Arguments for Potentially Variable Prices	4
2.2	Macroeconomic Theories of Price Rigidity	7
3	The Scanner Data	8
4	Empirical Evidence	8
4.1	The Variability of Grocery-Retailers' Prices and the Special Importance of Sales	9
4.2	Price Rigidity and the Size of Grocery-Retailers' Price Changes	14
5	Conclusions	. 17
6	Literature	19

#### **Abstract**

In many industrialized countries, the grocery-retailing sector exhibits a strong and increasing market concentration. Hence, it is important to understand retail pricing for many questions related to market power in the marketing chain and to agricultural and food policies. We analyze intertemporal pricing of grocery retailers in Germany with a large set of scanner data for processed foods. In theory, food prices could be rather variable, e.g. due to fluctuating commodity prices in a competitive world, or rather rigid, e.g. due to price adjustment costs. We elaborate that retail sales are crucial and raise food price variability at the points of sale. Despite this, prices are rather rigid and often do not change for many weeks. Moreover, pricing strategies for identical brands vary strongly across retailers. Retailers seem to have differential pricing strategies and, thus, market power. This casts substantial doubt on the assumption of a competitive price transmission in the marketing channel underlying most analyses in agricultural economics.

**Keywords:** Grocery retailing sector, pricing patterns, sales, price rigidity, scanner data.

## 1 INTRODUCTION

Within the marketing chain for food products, large grocery retailers play an important and increasing role. In the U.S., e.g., a major structural change took place in the 1990s with a wave of mergers, acquisitions and new entries in particular by the discount retailer Wal-Mart (FRANKLIN, 2001). Although the national market share of the four leading U.S. retailers appears to be relatively low with 28 %, it is much higher at the regional level with an average of about 70 % for the 100 largest metropolitan areas. In Europe, concentration in the food-retailing sector is typically higher at the national level than in the U.S. In the mid-1990s, the market shares for the largest five food retailers amounted to 75 % in Germany and to 67 % in France and the United Kingdom (McCorriston, 2002). In general, these concentration ratios have increased over time.

Given this background, it is often argued that the market power of large chains of grocery retailers has strongly increased as opposed to food manufacturers. Consequently, buyer power of food retailers is a major issue of antitrust policy in the EU and the member states. Likewise, the retailers' pricing strategies are observed by antitrust authorities with great interest under the existing policies against cartels and price discrimination. Moreover, merger control is important in the food-retailing sector as it is in many other sectors (Buccirossi, Marette and Schiavina, 2002).

Despite the importance of grocery retailers' market behaviour for market performance and the great interest of antitrust policy in this behaviour, detailed analyses of retailers' pricing behaviour by agricultural economists appeared only recently. There is a dominance of two other branches of the literature in this field. On the one hand, there is an ongoing interest of marketing research in the optimal product line pricing of multiproduct firms like grocery retailers (LITTLE and SHAPIRO, 1980; REIBSTEIN and GATIGNON, 1984; SOBEL, 1984; SIMON, 1992). It is derived there that varying sales with lead products are a major component of successful pricing policy. The existence and variation of specials suggest that price variability is prominent in grocery retailing. On the other

-

Of course, this implies that there is a strong reaction of consumer demand to varying prices at the point of sale. This has been shown in a number of empirical demand studies mostly on the basis of scanner data (Capps, 1989; Hoch et al., 1995; Schäfer, 1997; Möser, 2002). In most cases, price elasticities of food demand above unity in absolute terms were computed.

hand, comprehensive price analyses for foods and other consumer goods have been a core element of the microeconomic foundation of macroeconomics (Carlton, 1986; Blinder et al., 1998; Köhler, 1996). Keynesian hypotheses of price rigidity, e.g. due to adjustment costs or coordination failure, are stressed. Several empirical studies, based on surveys or econometrics, confirm the importance of price rigidity (Blinder et al., 1998; Levy et al., 1997; Lach and Tsiddon, 1996; Slade, 1998).

Given the existence of plausible hypotheses for both variable and rigid prices, we will analyze here whether consumer prices of processed foods are variable or rigid and how this evidence can be explained. A rich set of German scanner data is exploited for a selection of national food brands.

The paper is organized as follows. The theoretical basis for variable as opposed to rigid food prices is illustrated first. Then, the data set is described and the empirical findings are presented. In the last section, results are summarized, economic conclusions are drawn, and suggestions for future research are given.

## 2 THEORETICAL ANALYSIS

Major theoretical approaches to explain variable or rigid food prices are (i) the theory of pricing in multiproduct firms and (ii) theories of price rigidity. Both approaches are briefly surveyed and their relevance for our question is discussed in this section.

# 2.1 Price Theory of the Multiproduct Firm – Theoretical Arguments for Potentially Variable Prices

The theory of pricing in a multiproduct firm typically explains optimal levels of prices in a comparative static framework. Interpreted dynamically with changes in marginal costs and demand, it can serve, however, mainly as an explanation for variable prices over time.

What is the optimum pricing rule of a profit-maximizing multiproduct firm that offers i = 1,...,n goods? The prices (p) of all goods have to be considered in the demand (q) for each of i goods:

$$q_i = q_i(p_1, \dots, p_n). \tag{1}$$

Profits ( $\pi$ ) of the multiproduct firm are defined as

$$\pi = p_1 q_1 + \dots + p_n q_n - C_1(q_1) - \dots - C_n(q_n) \to \text{Max!},$$
(2)

where C denotes costs. By introducing (1) into (2), the first-order condition for the profit maximizing price of one of the goods, say j, can be derived:

$$\frac{\partial \pi}{\partial p_{j}} = q_{j} + p_{j} \frac{\partial C_{j}}{\partial q_{j}} \frac{\partial q_{j}}{\partial p_{j}} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} p_{i} \frac{\partial C_{i}}{\partial q_{i}} \frac{\partial q_{i}}{\partial p_{j}} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$$
(3)

By rearranging (3), we get the optimal prices of the individual product *j* as a function of elasticities:

$$p_{j}^{*} = \frac{\varepsilon_{jj}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{jj})} \cdot C_{j}' - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} (p_{i} - C_{i}') \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{ij} q_{i}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{jj}) q_{j}}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

 $C_j$ ' stands for marginal costs,  $\varepsilon_{jj}$  for the own price elasticity of demand for product j, and  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is the cross-price elasticity of demand for product i with regard to the price of product j. Apparently, all cross-price elasticities of demand and the own price elasticities of demand as well as marginal costs of all products affect the optimal pricing strategy of the multiproduct firm (Selten, 1970, p. 48; Little and Shapiro, 1980; Reibstein and Gatignon, 1984).

A special case of equation (4) is the optimal price of the single-product monopoly:

$$p_{i}^{*} = \left(\varepsilon_{ii}/(1+\varepsilon_{ii})\right) \cdot C_{i}'. \tag{5}$$

No substitutive or complementary relationships to other goods do exist under equation (5). Strong differences between (4) and (5) may occur for a product if the cross-price elasticities of demand are not zero. Complementary (substitutive) relationships to other

products drive the optimal price downward (upward) compared to the single-product monopoly. In the first case, e.g. it may be attractive for grocery retailers to offer so-called "loss leaders" even below marginal costs. Loss leaders are products that are strongly complementary in demand with other products and when priced attractively, provide incentives for one-stop shopping at the respective store. However, such low-price strategies below marginal costs are not in all European countries legal.<sup>2</sup>

Equation (4) is an optimal pricing rule for a certain point of time, i.e. static. However, if the coefficients of (4) were known for each point of time, a dynamic pattern of price formation could be derived. In a dynamic interpretation of (4), it is clear that variations of prices might be optimal due to (i) changes in demand and (ii) changes in marginal costs. Changes in demand would affect the difference between price and marginal costs in (4) and/or the price elasticities. Changes in marginal costs would affect C' directly.

There are some determinants of food prices which are particularly important as causes of price changes. On the demand side, three determinants seem most relevant. First, the demand function shifts within a year due to seasonal influences. Second, marketing activities by competitors shift the demand curve for own products to the left and put pressure on suppliers to react by measures of price and quality competition. Most important strategies are periodic and changing retail sales (Hosken and Reiffen, 2001). Third, a large number of product innovations in the food industry (Connor and Schiek, 1997) changes demand for "old" products over time and leads to changing optimal prices over time.

On the cost side, changing input prices will often occur and induce changing marginal costs. A second important factor is caused by market power in the marketing chain. With an increasing concentration in the food-retailing sector, retailers are often in a position to demand slotting allowances or product subsidies from food manufacturers. Typically, the subsidies are infrequent and irregular, reduce marginal costs and give rise to optimal price changes according to equation (4).

<sup>2</sup> 

According to German competition law, e.g., it is prohibited to set retail prices continuously below a product's input price. Such prices, called "Untereinstandspreise", are only allowed in the short run during sales.

We can summarize that changes in demand and marginal costs will change optimal prices in a situation of monopolistic competition. Therefore, these changes in market conditions favour variable prices in food retailing over time.

## 2.2 Macroeconomic Theories of Price Rigidity

The price theory of the multiproduct firm as shown above has ignored major arguments that are stressed in the macroeconomic theories of price rigidity (Blinder et al., 1998). One of these major arguments is that price changes cause adjustment costs. For grocery retailers, such adjustment costs may be high as thousands of products are offered. Immediate reactions to all changes of input costs and demand would cause high decision and information costs as well as the direct costs of printing new leaflets or repricing at the shelf. These costs are known as menu costs.

The optimal decision rule for individual products has been derived formally by Sheshinski and Weiss (1977). Price changes will be realised when the additional gains are higher than price adjustment costs. Analytically, price adjustment costs would enter into equation (3) for the multiproduct firm.

It is very clear that price adjustment costs do exist. Controversial is the functional form. Proponents of the menu-cost approach argue that adjustment costs are fixed, i.e. independent of the degree of price adjustment (Mankiw, 1985). An opposite hypothesis was formulated by Rotemberg (1982) and is known as the theory of convex price adjustment. Rotemberg argues that high price increases damage the reputation of a firm, antagonize consumers and induce the convex functional form of price adjustment. It is important for a quantitative analysis that the menu-cost hypothesis would be supported by rather long periods of rigid prices with few and large price changes. Gradual and small price changes would be consistent with the theory of convex price adjustment. Empirical studies have recently provided some support for the menu-cost hypothesis in the retailing sector (Lach and Tsiddon, 1996; Levy et al., 1997; Slade, 1998).

### 3 THE SCANNER DATA

The quantitative analysis is based on a commercially available scanner data set provided by MADAKOM GmbH (MADAKOM, 1999a). It captures scanner data from the German food-retailing sector for 144 weeks, i.e. the period from September 30, 1996, to June 28, 1999. Four types of retailing firms were selected for this study: (i) large consumer markets (1,500 to 5,000 m²/sales area); (ii) small consumer markets (800 to 1,499 m² area); (iii) supermarkets (400 to 799 m²) and (iv) discounters. A further selection criterion was that data were available for 100 consecutive weeks. 38 stores remained in the sample after applying this criterion as well as the rule that the regional distribution of stores should approximately picture the structure of the German food-retailing sector. Data for seven retailing companies were included, and the selection of products covers breakfast products in the broadest sense.

The individual articles could be identified with their EAN codes<sup>3</sup> and comprehensive information was available on the items. This information includes the quantity sold, the product price, the name of the product and the package size. Information on promotion activities at the point of sale were available as well as a variable accounting for price discounts. Sales are measured as those prices which remain for four weeks or less by at least five percent below the normal price. After more than four weeks, such low prices are counted as normal price (MADAKOM, 1999b). It has to be borne in mind that the panel data represent a pure retailers' panel and, thus, sociodemographic variables of consumers are not included.

### 4 EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE

The theoretical analysis has shown alternative approaches that might explain either flexible or sticky prices. Branches of the literature that stress the high variability of food

-

EAN codes contain 13 or 8 numbers which are printed on the product and they contain an identification of the manufacturer and the details of the product.

prices have typically relied on the empirical measurement of instability in economic time series. Therefore, we will present first the price variability of 20 national brands of breakfast products at the point of sale on the basis of the scanner data set described above. Theories of price rigidity have been typically confronted in empirical studies with special indicators of stickiness. Price rigidity will be measured here in the second empirical part for four selected brands in more detail. It will be shown in both parts how pricing strategies of grocery retailers affect the results.

## 4.1 The Variability of Grocery-Retailers' Prices and the Special Importance of Sales

Table 1 shows the empirical results on price variability for the 20 food brands across stores and over time for six grocery-retailing firms. Additional background information is provided in Appendix 1 where mean prices in the various retail chains are summarized.

If we look at Appendix 1 first, it is interesting to note that mean prices for the products clearly vary across the retail chains. Apparently, the law of one price does not hold for identical products across stores. On average, grocery retailers *B* and *C* are the cheapest suppliers and retailer *F* the most expensive one. In particular for individual brands, cross-store price differences are high. Dallmayr Prodomo, Rama, and Müllermilch Schoko, three leading brands on the coffee, margarine and flavoured milk markets respectively, are cases in point. In each of these cases, the average price charged by the retailing chain *B* is about 10 % below that of retailing chain *A*.

Table 1 reveals that the instability of prices at the point of sale is rather low compared with the magnitude of price instability known from agricultural commodity markets. The trend-corrected coefficients of variation rank between zero and 7.99% and the unweighted mean is 3.05%. Again, there are some differences between the six grocery-retailing firms. It is striking that the top-three include the grocery retailers with the lowest price level, i.e. chains B and C, as well as the chain with the highest price level (F). Apparently, a higher variability of store prices over time may be associated with a low-price as well as a high-price strategy.

Exactly these three grocery retailers, which reveal the highest price variability over time, are clearly leading in terms of the number of price actions. If we consider an unweighted mean of the price actions for those 18 brands distributed in all chains, the mean number of sales per brand in the period of analysis is highest for retailer B (96.1), followed by F (49.2) and C (43.8). This strongly suggests that the impact of price specials is important for the variability of store prices over time.

We tested this hypothesis, i.e. retail sales drive price variability, more formally. When the results for the 18 brands are pooled, the following regression result occurs:

$$\hat{v}^* = 2.4781^{***} + 0.0168^{***} PA$$

$$(12.04) \qquad (4.87)$$

$$(\overline{R}^2 = 0.18; \quad F = 23.70^{***}; \quad n = 108)$$
(6)

The variables are defined as in Table 1 and the statistical indicators as in Table 2.

Table 1: Variability of Consumer Prices and Number of Specials for 20 Brands of Breakfast Products in Six Grocery-Retailing Firms in Germany, Weekly Prices, 1996-99

Products	Grocery-Retailing Firms											
	Α		В		С		D		E		F	
	V*	PA	V*	PA	V*	PA	V*	PA	V*	PA	V*	PA
Bärenmarke "Feine 12", 170g	1.62	1	1.46	5	0.50	4	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	2.05	0	1.46	11
Bärenmarke Kaffeetraum 8%, 170g	2.27	8	2.39	86	4.10	57	6.96	43	2.87	0	2.57	67
Coppenrath & Wiese Unsere Goldstücke 9 St. (450g)	1.16	5	2.66	39	3.17	90	3.83	30	1.05	0	4.52	41
Dallmayr Prodomo, 500g	5.12	27	7.38	282	6.85	81	6.11	62	7.99	23	5.68	97
Danone Actimel Drink Classic, 4x100g	2.63	2	3.64	68	5.25	52	3.01	12	5.10	15	3.54	33
Golden Toast Butter Toast, 500g	7.58	41	2.63	36	6.16	64	1.21	7	6.72	13	4.93	120
Golden Toast Sonntagsbrötchen, 8 St.	2.57	11	1.51	4	3.05	25	0.50	0	2.92	5	4.79	26
Jacobs Café Zauber Cappuccino, 200g plus 10g Milchschokolade	0.90	4	3.16	103	2.92	47	3.58	64	2.14	18	2.41	51
Kellogg's Cornflakes, 375g	4.53	21	3.31	51	5.04	23	3.46	44	3.85	14	6.27	77
Kerrygold Original Irische Butter, 250g	1.81	8	3.85	134	4.46	64	1.32	19	1.30	7	2.62	27
Landliebe Landmilch 3,8%	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	-	1.74	7	2.51	59	0.57	3	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	-	1.21	0
Lieken Urkorn Das Vollkorn-Saftige, 500g	5.09	15	3.60	92	2.32	10	0.62	5	0.51	2	2.74	34
Müllermilch Schoko, 500ml	3.01	21	3.60	103	5.27	67	3.42	55	2.11	21	4.17	51
Nestlé Cini Minis, 375g	0.81	5	3.21	113	2.99	50	2.06	30	3.18	5	1.77	37
Nestlé Nesquik für ein Knusperfrühstück 375g	0.83	5	3.04	110	2.59	49	0.34	2	3.19	6	1.84	32
Nutella, 400g	3.36	14	3.18	160	1.63	12	1.69	38	0.98	0	2.28	40
Rama, 500g	4.50	36	4.55	221	5.04	44	2.43	74	1.50	0	3.23	77

Schwartau Extra Erdbeer-Konfitüre Extra, 450g	2.14	3	1.90	74	2.67	26	1.83	11	1.91	0	1.95	32
Teekanne Teefix, 43,75g	1.31	2	2.65	16	2.75	0	5.36	21	6.96	8	2.12	19
Wasa Schoko Wikinger, 150g	0.91	2	1.55	37	2.18	28	1.34	2	0.00	0	2.03	24
Unweighted mean <sup>c)</sup> :	2.81	12.8	3.21	96.1	3.80	43.8	2.72	28.8	3.02	7.61	3.30	49.2

v\* indicates the coefficient of variation, trend-corrected according to the proposal of CUDDY/DELLA VALLE (1978) and PA stands for the number of price actions in the respective firm. The product sample, the sample period and the included stores are explained in the text.

Source: Authors' computations.

b) Not distributed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c)</sup> Only those 18 products included which are distributed in all chains.

Equation (6) shows that the price variability increased significantly with the number of retail sales. For the cross-section of the 18 brands and six retailing firms, an additional price action caused an increase in the trend-corrected coefficient of variation by 0.017 percentage points. Separate results for the six grocery retailers reveal, however, that the marginal impact of sales on price variability varied strongly across firms. Table 2 summarizes regression coefficients for the different grocery retailers. They rank between 0.016 and 0.179.

Table 2: Marginal Changes in the Trend-corrected Coefficients of Price Variation

Due to an Additional Retail Sale a)

Grocery-Retailing Firms	Coefficients	Grocery-Retailing Firms	Coefficients
Α	0.1406***	D	0.0479*
	(7.57)		(2.94)
В	0.0159***	E	0.1788**
	(6.69)		(3.05)
С	0.0358**	F	0.0317**
	(2.96)		(3.17)

a) An equation like (6) was estimated for the six grocery-retailing firms and the regression coefficients are shown. \*\*\* (\*\*, \*) indicates the 99.9 %- (99 %-, 95 %-)level of statistical significance and values in parentheses are *t*-values.

Source: Authors' computations.

If we introduce differential effects of price actions on price variability by slope dummies in the regression model, the statistical fit can be clearly improved:

$$\hat{v}^* = 1.5560 *** + 0.0404 *** \cdot PA + 0.0768 *** \cdot \text{DUMMY } A \cdot PA$$

$$(7.41) \qquad (7.55) \qquad (4.02)$$

$$-0.0236 *** \cdot \text{DUMMY } B \cdot PA + 0.1449 *** \cdot \text{DUMMY } E \cdot PA$$

$$(-4.50) \qquad (4.72)$$

$$(\overline{R}^2 = 0.45; \quad F = 18.31 ***; \quad n = 108)$$

DUMMY A (DUMMY B, DUMMY C) are dummy variables for the grocery-retailing firms A (B,C) with 1 for the respective firm and 0 otherwise. Equation (7) indicates that the

marginal impact of an additional price action on price variability in the reference group, i.e. firms C, D and F, is a positive one of 0.04 percentage points. The marginal impact is, however, significantly larger in firms E and A, the chains with a comparatively low number of retail sales. It is significantly smaller in firm B, where the number of retail sales is higher than in all other grocery-retailing firms.

## 4.2 Price Rigidity and the Size of Grocery-Retailers' Price Changes

In this part, price rigidity will be measured and analysed in more detailed for four food brands: Dallmayr Prodomo, 500g; Kellogg's Cornflakes, 375g; Schwartau Extra Erdbeerkonfitüre, 450g; Wasa Schoko Wikinger, 150g. Again, the scanner data set for various outlets of the six grocery-retailing firms in the period 1996-99 is exploited.

Following Powers and Powers (2001), price rigidity is measured as the mean duration of unchanged prices:

$$PRIG = w/w_{PCH} \tag{8}$$

w stands for the number of weekly price observations,  $w_{PCH}$  is the number of weeks with price changes.

In a competitive world, where the law of one price holds we would expect a similar price rigidity across stores for one brand <sup>4</sup>. We would expect that changes in marginal costs would affect store prices in similar ways. We would also expect a similar pattern of price rigidity and price changes across brands in all grocery-retailing firms.

Table 3 indicates that these expectations are not at all fulfilled. Price rigidity for all four brands exhibits enormous differences for the six retail chains. For the coffee brand, Dallmayr Prodomo, the mean duration of unchanged prices varies between an average of 2.7 weeks (chain B) and 18 weeks (chain E). For Kellogg's Cornflakes, it ranges between 7.4 weeks (chain E) and 36.6 weeks (chain E) and, for Schwartau

-

Only differences in transportation and transaction costs, for which we do not have information, could cause deviations from this pattern.

Erdbeerkonfitüre, even between 4.2 (chain *C*) and 139.3 weeks (chain *E*). For Wasa Schoko Wikinger, prices changed every 10 weeks in chain *C* but chain E did never alter the price.

If we regard median price rigidity for all four brands in individual grocery-retailing firms, major differences are again visible. Whereas firm *C* changes every 11 weeks a price, chain *E* alters the store prices only every 87 weeks. Overall, this is a confirmation of a great importance of price rigidity at the retail level. Moreover, these enormous differences in price rigidity suggest a strong potential for individual pricing and market power in grocery retailing.

Table 3: Evidence on Price Rigidity and the Size of Price Changes in Food Stores, Four Brands, Weekly Prices, 1996-99a)

Products	Average Price Rigidity ( <i>PRIG</i> ) in Six Grocery-Retailing Firms <sup>b)</sup>									
	A	В	С	D	E	F				
Dallmayr Prodomo, 500g	16.3	2.7	7.2	11.1	18.0	9.3				
Kellogg's Cornflakes, 375g	36.6	17.9	17.7	33.6	34.0	7.4				
Schwartau Extra Erdbeer-Konfitüre, 450g	19.9	4.5	4.2	18.7	139.3	8.2				
Wasa Schoko Wikinger, 150g	123.3	23.1	10.2	82.6	_c)	17.8				
	Average Price Changes in Six Grocery-Retailing Firms (DM) <sup>b)</sup>									
	Α	В	С	D	E	F				
Dallmayr Prodomo, 500g	1.16	1.10	1.02	0.91	0.51	1.15				
	(1.13)	(1.29)	(1.23)	(1.16)	(0.94)	(1.25)				
Kellogg's Cornflakes, 375g	0.29	0.51	0.18	047	0.23	0.47				
	(0.30)	(0.53)	(0.18)	(0.89)	(0.10)	(0.48)				
Schwartau Extra Erdbeer-Konfitüre, 450g	0.12	0.15	0.15	0.21	_d)	0.19				
	(0.11)	(0.16)	(0.15)	(0.12)	(0.20)	(0.20)				
Wasa Schoko Wikinger, 150g	0.17	0.24	0.25	0.20	_e)	0.32				
	(0.07)	(0.29)	(0.30)	(0.13)	_c)	(0.36)				

The sample period and the included stores are explained in the text. The number of observations differs across the grocery-retailing firms and products.

Price rigidity is measured as in equation (8) in the text. The average price changes are measured as absolute changes in DM, separately calculated for price decreases and price increases (the latter ones in parentheses).

Not computed as no price changes were observed.

- d) Not computed as no price decreases were observed.
- e) Not computed as no price increases were observed.

Source: Authors' computations.

Median price rigidity across grocery retailers is clearly highest for Schoko Wikinger (25.9 weeks), followed by Kellogg's Cornflakes (25.8 weeks), Schwartau Extra Erdbeerkonfitüre (13.5 weeks) and Dallmayr Prodomo (10.2 weeks). Interestingly, this implies that price rigidity is highest for the brand with the lowest number of retail sales and lowest for the brand with the highest number of sales. The importance of a brand for sales seems to be negatively associated with its price rigidity.

Additional computations in Table 3 show the average price decreases and increases of the four brands' prices. Again, these vary strongly by retail chain and brand. The menu-cost hypothesis suggests that the size of price changes becomes higher with a growing price rigidity. When this hypothesis is tested with the pooled data of Table 3 and *PRIG* is differentiated by price increases

and decreases, this hypothesis is not confirmed <sup>5</sup>. A higher price rigidity leads to a lower size of price changes. The interpretation has, however, to consider retail sales and the result does not mean that the menu-cost hypothesis is not valid. As price actions do drastically reduce the brand's price, consequential returns to normal price levels will also be high. Different from the analysis of Powers and Powers for lettuce, where sales were not very important, changes in the normal price and changes in the price due to retail sale will have to be differentiated. Tests of the menu-cost hypothesis will have to refer to changes in the normal price.

## 5 CONCLUSIONS

Pricing strategies in the food-retailing sector have been widely ignored in the agricultural economics literature for many years. Given the high concentration level in the grocery-retailing sector of industrialized countries, this is not justified. It was the objective of this paper to analyse the dynamic pattern of prices in the food-retailing sector theoretically and empirically. In particular, it was tested whether food prices are variable – like many commodity prices – or relatively rigid – like many sales prices of the manufacturing sector. The following results are striking:

1. With competitive pricing, store prices would be variable under the influence of changes in demand and marginal costs. The empirical analysis of a large scanner data set for 20 food brands in six German grocery-retailing firms revealed that weekly price variability is rather low compared with price variability of agricultural commodities. It increased strongly with the number of retail sales for the respective brand.

-

A regression equation based on Table 3 and more differentiated price rigidity data yields:  $PRCHA = 0.5861*** -0.2194 \cdot 10^{-2} **PRIG$  ( $R^2 = 0.12;$  F = 7.44\*\*)

All statist((2)) indicators(-2) used as before and *PRCHA* is the average size of price changes in the individual retailing firms.

- Consistent with the first result is that price rigidity is in general rather high at the retail level. There are brands where the median duration of unchanged prices is as high as 53 weeks. Again, the number of price actions for brands leads to a lower price rigidity.
- 3. Price variability as well as price rigidity varies strongly across grocery-retailing firms. Differences are so strong that no consistent pricing pattern for all retail chains can be discovered. This is an indication of market power and the potential to set prices independently of the competitors' behaviour. On a perfectly competitive market, similar price patterns would occur under ceteris-paribus conditions as input costs would affect all retailers in the same way.
- 4. Retail sales are important for price rigidity and, thus, the frequency of price changes. Price rigidity itself affects the absolute price changes. Therefore, retail sales have to be incorporated when price strategies suggested by macroeconomic hypotheses of price rigidity are tested.

As price strategies of the grocery-retailing firms seem to be heterogeneous and not uniformly linked to changes in input costs, this fact has to be introduced much more in price-transmission analysis in future research. Studies in agricultural economics often start from a price-transmission coefficient based on perfect competition and the share of input costs in the production value. This may lead to substantial forecasting errors when policy impacts on the marketing chain are analysed or impacts of changing world prices on consumers.

### 6 LITERATURE

- Blinder, A.S., Canetti, E., Lebow, D., Rudd, J., 1998. Asking about Prices. A New Approach to Understanding Price Stickiness. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Buccirossi, P., Marette, S., Schiavina, A., 2002. Competition Policy and the Agribusiness Sector in the European Union. European Review of Agricultural Economics 29 (3), 373-397.
- Capps, O. Jr., 1989. Utilizing Scanner Data to Estimate Retail Demand Functions for Meat Products. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 71 (3), 750-760.
- Carlton, D.W., 1986. The Rigidity of Prices. The American Economic Review 76 (4), 637-658.
- Connor, J.M., Schiek, W.A., 1997. Food Processing. An Industrial Powerhouse in Transition. Second edition, New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cuddy, J.D.A., Della Valle, P.A., 1978. Measuring the Instability of Time Series Data.

  Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 40, 79-85.
- Franklin, A., 2001. The Impact of Wal-Mart Supercenters on Supermarket Concentration in U.S. Metropolitan Areas. Agribusiness. An International Journal 17 (1), 105-114.
- Hoch, S.J., Kim, B.-D., Montgomery, A.L., Rossi, P.E., 1995. Determinants of Store-Level Price Elasticity. Journal of Marketing Research XXXII (1), 17-29.
- Hosken, D., Reiffen, D., 2001. Multiproduct Retailers and the Sale Phenomenon. Agribusiness. An International Journal 17 (1), 115-137.
- Köhler, A.G., 1996. Nominale Preisrigiditäten auf Gütermärkten: eine empirische Überprüfung neukeynesianischer Erklärungsansätze. (CIRET-Studien 51, ifo Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung), München.
- Lach, S., Tsiddon, D., 1996. Staggering and Synchronization in Price Setting: Evidence from Multiproduct Firms. The American Economic Review 86 (5), 1175-1196.
- Levy, D., Bergen, M., Dutta, S., Venable, R., 1997. The Magnitude of Menu Costs: Direct Evidence from Large U.S. Supermarket Chains. Quarterly Journal of Economics 112 (3), 791-825.
- Little, J.D.C., Shapiro, J.F., 1980. A Theory for Pricing Nonfeatured Products in Supermarkets. Journal of Business 53 (3), 199-209.
- Madakom GmbH (Ed.) 1999a. Madakom Pool für Scannerdaten. Köln: July 29, 1999.

- Madakom GmbH 1999b. Written information by Mr. T. Bartram, August 17, 1999.
- Mankiw, N.G., 1985. Small Menu Costs and Large Business Cycles: A Macroeconomic Model of Monopoly. Quarterly Journal of Economics 100 (2), 529-538.
- McCorriston, S., 2002. Why Should Imperfect Competition Matter to Agricultural Economists? European Review of Agricultural Economics 29 (3), 349-371.
- Möser, A., 2002. Intertemporale Preisbildung im Lebensmitteleinzelhandel Theorie und empirische Tests. (Giessener Schriften zur Agrar- und Ernährungswirtschaft, Heft 32) Frankfurt: DLG-Verlag.
- Powers, E.T., Powers, N.J., 2001. The Size and Frequency of Price Changes: Evidence from Grocery Stores. Review of Industrial Organization 18 (4), 397-416.
- Reibstein, D.J., Gatignon, H., 1984. Optimal Product Line Pricing: The Influence of Elasticities and Cross-Elasticities. Journal of Marketing Research 21 (3), 259-267.
- Rotemberg, J., 1982. Sticky Prices in the United States. Journal of Political Economy 90 (5), 1187-1211.
- Schäfer, R., 1997. Die Absatzeffekte von Verkaufsförderung im Lebensmitteleinzelhandel. Theoretische Analyse und empirische Messung am Beispiel Wein. (Giessener Schriften zur Agrar- und Ernährungswirtschaft, Heft 26), Frankfurt: DLG-Verlag.
- Selten, R., 1970. Preispolitik der Mehrproduktunternehmung in der statischen Theorie. (Ökonometrie und Unternehmensforschung, Bd. XVI), Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.
- Sheshinski, E., Weiss, Y., 1977, Inflation and Costs of Price Adjustment. Review of Economic Studies 44, 287-303.
- Simon, H., 1992, Preismanagement. Analyse Strategie Umsetzung. 2. vollständig überarbeitete und erweiterte Auflage, Wiesbaden.
- Slade, M.E., 1998, Optimal Pricing with Costly Adjustment: Evidence from Retail Grocery Prices. Review of Economic Studies 65 (1), 87-107.
- Sobel, J., 1984, The Timing of Sales. Review of Economic Studies 51, 353–368.

Appendix 1: Mean Price Level of 20 Brands of Breakfast Products in Six Grocery-Retailing Firms in Germany, 1996-99a)

Products	Grocery-Retailing Firms								
	Α	В	С	D	E	F			
Bärenmarke "Feine 12", 170g	1.33	1.36	1.31	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	1.28	1.47			
Bärenmarke Kaffeetraum 8%, 170g	1.13	1.14	1.04	1.26	1.00	1.29			
Coppenrath & Wiese Unsere Goldstücke 9 St. (450g)	2.47	2.31	2.39	2.42	2.48	2.54			
Dallmayr Prodomo, 500g	9.99	9.09	9.31	9.54	9.82	9.55			
Danone Actimel Drink Classic, 4x100g	2.61	2.63	2.59	2.42	2.55	2.62			
Golden Toast Butter Toast, 500g	2.30	1.99	1.90	1.97	1.99	2.13			
Golden Toast Sonntagsbrötchen, 8 St.	2.94	2.84	2.85	2.91	2.89	2.84			
Jacobs Café Zauber Cappuccino, 200g plus 10g Milchschokolade	6.92	7.25	7.51	7.01	7.68	7.44			
Kellogg`s Cornflakes, 375g	3.41	3.60	3.29	3.39	3.39	3.34			
Kerrygold Original Irische Butter, 250g	2.54	2.43	2.40	2.42	2.43	2.66			
Landliebe Landmilch 3,8%	n.d. <sup>b)</sup>	1.68	1.68	1.67	n.d. b)	1.82			
Lieken Urkorn Das Vollkorn-Saftige, 500g	2.14	2.36	2.42	2.40	2.24	2.47			
Müllermilch Schoko, 500ml	1.41	1.28	1.15	1.07	1.09	1.38			
Nestlé Cini Minis, 375g	4.73	4.70	4.72	4.84	4.87	4.78			
Nestlé Nesquik für ein Knusperfrühstück 375g	4.72	4.70	4.64	4.86	4.87	4.77			
Nutella, 400g	2.77	2.65	2.61	2.63	2.55	2.79			
Rama, 500g	1.95	1.77	1.82	1.83	1.86	1.85			
Schwartau Extra Erdbeer-Konfitüre Extra, 450g	2.97	2.97	2.96	2.95	2.98	3.00			
Teekanne Teefix, 43,75g	3.88	3.72	3.62	3.81	3.37	3.64			
Wasa Schoko Wikinger, 150g	2.77	2.77	2.89	2.82	2.73	2.78			
Unweighted mean <sup>c)</sup> :	3.43	3.34	3.34	3.36	3.38	3.44			

a) The product sample, the sample period and the included stores are explained in the text. All prices are average prices across stores of the individual retailers and over time where all "normal" and discount prices are included.

Source: Authors' computations.

b) Not distributed.

c) Only those 18 products included which are distributed in all chains.

## Bisherige Veröffentlichungen in dieser Reihe:

- Herrmann, R., Kramb, M. C., Mönnich, Ch., (12.2000): Tariff Rate Quotas and the Economic Impact of Agricultural Trade Liberalization in the WTO. No. 1.
- Bohnet, A., Schratzenstaller, M., (01.2001): Der Einfluss der Globalisierung auf Staatliche Handlungsspielräume und die Zielverwirklichungsmöglichkeiten gesellschaftlicher Gruppen. No. 2.
- Kramb, M. C., (03.2001): Die Entscheidungen des "Dispute Settlement"-Verfahrens der WTO im Hormonstreit zwischen der EU und den USA Implikationen für den zukünftigen Umgang mit dem SPS-Abkommen. No. 3.
- Chen, J., Gemmer, M., Tong, J., King, L., Metzler, M., (08.2001): Visualisation of Historical Flood and Drought Information (1100-1940) for the Middle Reaches of the Yangtze River Valley, P.R. China. No. 4.
- Schroeter, Ch., (11.2001): Consumer Attitudes towards Food Safety Risks Associated with Meat Processing. No. 5.
- Mönnich, Ch., (12.2001): Zollkontigente im Argarsektor: Wie viel Libersalisierungsfortschritt? Ergebnisse und Diskussion einer Auswertung der EU-Daten. No. 6.
- Rubiolo, M., (01.2002): EU and Latin America: Biregionalism in a Globalizing World? No. 7.
- Gast, M., (02.2002): Zollkontingente bei US-amerikanischen Käseimporten. No. 8.
- Bischoff, T., (08.2002): Efficiency-enhancing effects of private and collective enterprises in transitional china. No. 9.
- Kötschau, K. M., Pawlowski, I., Schmitz, P. M. (01.2003): Die Policy Analysis Matrix (PAM) als Instrument zur Messung von Wettbewerbsfähigkeit und Politikeinfluss Zwischen Theorie und Praxis: Das Fallbeispiel einer ukrainischen Molkerei No. 10.
- Herrmann, R.; Möser, A. (02.2003): Price variability or rigidity in the food-retailing sector? Theoretical analysis and evidence from german scanner data. No. 11,

Die Diskussionsbeiträge können im Internet unter: <a href="http://www.uni-giessen.de/zeu/Publikationen">http://www.uni-giessen.de/zeu/Publikationen</a> eingesehen werden.